
 

 

Cotswold District Council, Trinity Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1PX 

Tel: 01285 623000 www.cotswold.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Tuesday, 13 January 2026 

 

Tel: 01285 623181 

e-mail: democratic@cotswold.gov.uk 

 

COUNCIL 

 
A meeting of the Council will be held in the Council Chamber - Council Offices, Trinity 

Road, Cirencester, GL7 1PX on Wednesday, 21 January 2026 at 2.00 pm. 

 

 
 

Jane Portman 

Interim Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Council 

(Councillors Mark Harris, Ray Brassington, Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Nick Bridges,  

Patrick Coleman, Daryl Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, David Fowles,  

Laura Hall-Wilson, Joe Harris, Paul Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd,  

Juliet Layton, Helene Mansilla, Mike McKeown, Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Nigel Robbins,  

Tony Slater, Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon  

Wareing, Ian Watson, Len Wilkins and Tristan Wilkinson) 

 
Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, 

and Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-

recording.  Photography is also permitted. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Committee Administrator know prior to the date of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  

To receive any apologies for absence. The quorum for Council is 9 members. 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 

considered at the meeting. 

 

3.   Minutes (Pages 9 - 34) 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 26 November 2025. 

 

4.   Announcements from the Chair, Leader or Chief Executive  

To receive any announcements from the Chair of the Council, the Leader of the 

Council and the Chief Executive. 

 

5.   Public Questions  

To deal with questions from the public within the open forum question and 

answer session of fifteen minutes in total. Questions from each member of the 

public should be no longer than one minute each and relate to issues under the 

Council’s remit. At any one meeting no person may submit more than two 

questions and no more than two such questions may be asked on behalf of one 

organisation. 

 

The Chair will ask whether any members of the public present at the meeting wish 

to ask a question and will decide on the order of questioners. 

 

The response may take the form of: 

a) a direct oral answer; 

b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 

 

6.   Member Questions  

A Member of the Council may ask the Chair, the Leader, a Cabinet Member or the 

Chair of any Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council 

has powers or duties or which affects the Cotswold District. A maximum period of 

fifteen minutes shall be allowed at any such meeting for Member questions. 

 

A Member may only ask a question if:  

a) the question has been delivered in writing or by electronic mail to the Chief 

Page 2



 

Executive no later than 5.00 p.m. on the working day before the day of the 

meeting; or 

b) the question relates to an urgent matter, they have the consent of the 

Chair to whom the question is to be put and the content of the question is 

given to the Chief Executive by 9.30 a.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 

An answer may take the form of: 

a) a direct oral answer; 

b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 

 

Question 1: 

Cllr Julia Judd to Cllr Andrea Pellegram, Cabinet Member for Environment 

and Regulatory Services. 

I regularly receive emails from residents complaining that their food, general 

waste and/or recycling bins have not been collected.  

Residents are often unable to report missed bins on the Council web page, and 

the information about missed collections invariably does not apply to those 

whose bins have been missed.  

In their recent annual report, Ubico published that they make 99.92% ‘collection 

accuracy’ in their Operational Performance section. This dazzling statistic is hard 

to believe as it does not represent the reality of resident’s day to day experiences 

across the district.  

 

Could you please explain how “collection accuracy” is calculated including how a 

missed collection is defined?  

Are missed collections attributed to operational failures (such as vehicle 

breakdowns or staff shortages) included in this calculation? If so, please can you 

provide the number of missed collections for green waste, general waste and 

recycling, broken down by reason (including operational issues)? 

 

Question 2: 

Cllr Len Wilkins to Cllr Juliet Layton, Cabinet Member for Housing and 

Planning. 

The recently published “Service Performance Report 2025-26 Quarter 2 2025” 

includes a snapshot of Planning Enforcement cases and shows that 648 cases 

were active at that time with a clear upward trend in new cases.  

CDC's organisation chart shows that two out of the four of the staff positions in 

this department are vacant and are interim appointments.  

 

It’s clear that this department is under resourced and struggling to keep on top of 

its workload, what plans does CDC have to improve this unfortunate position? 

 

Page 3



 

Question 3: 

Cllr Laura Hall-Wilson to Cllr Andrea Pellegram, Cabinet Member for 

Environment and Regulatory Services. 

Earlier this month, we saw bin collections cancelled in Tetbury on Monday 5th 

January due to weather conditions, the weather continued to be very cold on 

Monday night and into Tuesday morning and the CDC website let residents know 

collections would be cancelled across the district. Yet to resident’s delight, the 

Lorries did in fact collect the bins in Tetbury on Tuesday 6th January.  

 

Can you let me know why you don’t contact members of this council to update 

them and allow them to communicate with residents about bin collections and 

why the website gives seemingly contradictory information? 

 

Question 4: 

Cllr David Fowles to Cllr Mike Evemy, Leader of the Council. 

Cotswold District Council recently published and distributed the taxpayer funded 

“Cotswold Together” magazine. A key focus of the publication were the Local Plan 

update and Local Government Reorganisation.  

These are important issues which affect the whole District on which all members 

and parties have cooperated in attempting to deliver the best outcome for the 

citizens of the Cotswolds.  

 

Despite this, the publication focusses entirely on the Liberal Democrats, why was 

there no engagement with the Conservatives concerning stories, overall content 

and format? 

 

Question 5: 

Cllr Ray Brassington to Cllr Mike Evemy, Leader of the Council. 

The minutes of the meeting of Council held on 24 February 2025 record that a 

member of the public (Mr Peter Hooper) asked “what action the Council would 

take to provide more grave plots for the ever-growing number of residents of 

Stratton”.   

In response, Councillor Joe Harris “acknowledged the frustration and suggested 

meeting up with Mr Hooper to explore the situation further”, and “proposed that 

his Executive Assistant would arrange a meeting with Mr Hooper and relevant 

officers to find a resolution and provide clarity for people in Cirencester”.   

 

Could the Cabinet Member currently responsible for Cemeteries please provide an 

update on the current situation with regard to the availability of grave plots in 

Stratton and Cirencester?  

 

7.   Appointment of Committees- vacant seat Planning & Licensing Committee  

 

Purpose:  

To make an appointment to Planning and Licensing Committee for the remainder 

Page 4



 

of the Civic Year 2025/26, following the resignation from the Committee of 

Councillor Tristan Wilkinson on 9 December 2025 

 

Recommendation:  

To appoint Councillor (TBC) to the vacant Liberal Democrat seat on the Council’s 

Planning and Licensing Committee for a term of office expiring at the next Annual 

Meeting of the Council.  

 

8.   New Fee for Primate Licences (Pages 35 - 38) 

Purpose: 

To seek Council’s approval to implement a fee for primate licensing applications, 

subject to the proposed fees having been approved by the Planning and Licensing 

Committee at their meeting on 14 January 2026. 

 

Recommendation: 

Subject to the resolutions of the Planning and Licensing Committee on 14 January 

2026, Council is recommended to: 

1. Agree that the fees applicable to Primate Keeper Licence applications are 

set as detailed in paragraph 3.9. 

 

9.   Treasury Management Mid-Year Report (Pages 39 - 58) 

Purpose: 

To receive and discuss details of the Council's Treasury Management performance 

for the period 01 April to 30 September 2025 and Quarter 2 Treasury 

Management Prudential Indicators. 

 

Recommendations: 

That Council resolves to: 

1. Note the Council’s Treasury Management performance for the period 1 

April 2025 to 30 September 2025 and the Quarter 2 Prudential Indicators. 

2. Approve the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2025/26 

 

10.   Notice of Motions (Pages 59 - 60) 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12, the following Motion has been 

received:- 

 

Motion A: Making the Cotswolds a Dementia Friendly District 

Proposed by: Councillor Mark Harris 

Seconded by: Councillor Paul Hodgkinson 

 

Motion: 

That Cotswold District Council commits to championing the development of 

Dementia Friendly towns and communities across the Cotswold District, working 

Page 5



 

in partnership with town and parish councils, community organisations, 

businesses, and relevant public sector partners. 

This commitment aligns with the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives relating to 

supporting healthy, inclusive communities, reducing inequality, and enabling 

residents to live well and independently for longer. 

 

To give effect to this commitment, Council resolves to: 

1. Endorse the principle of promoting Dementia Friendly Communities across 

the District, consistent with nationally recognised good practice. 

2. Request that Cabinet refer this initiative to the appropriate Committee or 

service area to identify how the Council can: 

o Provide leadership, 

o Coordinate partners, and 

o Support town and parish councils wishing to pursue Dementia 

Friendly status. 

3. Ask officers to explore the relevant guidance and support available through 

the 

Local Government Association and the 

Alzheimer’s Society, including any existing frameworks, toolkits, or case 

studies. 

4. Request a short report to Council within six months outlining: 

o Potential actions the District Council could take within existing 

resources, 

o Opportunities for partnership working, and 

o Suggested next steps for supporting communities across the 

District. 

 

Supporting Note (for information) 

Dementia affects a growing number of residents across the Cotswolds, with 

significant impacts on individuals, families, carers, and local communities. Creating 

Dementia Friendly Communities helps ensure that people living with dementia are 

understood, respected, and supported, enabling them to remain active and 

independent members of society for as long as possible. 

Cotswold District Council’s Corporate Plan places strong emphasis on: 

 Health and wellbeing 

 Stronger, more inclusive communities 

 Reducing isolation and inequality 

 Working in partnership to deliver outcomes 

Championing Dementia Friendly Communities directly supports these aims, while 

Page 6



 

recognising that leadership at district level can help: 

 Coordinate and amplify good practice, 

 Support town and parish councils already active in this area, 

 Engage businesses, voluntary groups, and public services, and 

 Ensure a consistent, joined-up approach across the District. 

The Local Government Association and Alzheimer’s Society both encourage 

councils to play a convening and enabling role, rather than delivering services 

directly, making this initiative well suited to the District Council’s strategic role. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11.   Next meeting  

The next meeting of Council will be held on 23 February 2026. The meeting will 

start at 6.00 pm. 

 

(END) 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Council 

26/November2025 
 

 

 

 

Minutes of a meeting of Council held on Wednesday, 26 November 2025 

 

 

Members present: 

Mark Harris  Ray Brassington   

Gina Blomefield 

Claire Bloomer 

Nick Bridges 

Patrick Coleman 

Daryl Corps 

David Cunningham 

Tony Dale 

Mike Evemy 

David Fowles 

Laura Hall-Wilson 

 

Joe Harris 

Paul Hodgkinson 

Nikki Ind 

Angus Jenkinson 

Julia Judd 

Andrew Maclean 

Mike McKeown 

Dilys Neill 

Andrea Pellegram 

Tony Slater 

 

Lisa Spivey 

Tom Stowe 

Jeremy Theyer 

Clare Turner 

Michael Vann 

Jon Wareing 

Ian Watson 

Len Wilkins 

 

Officers present: 

Jane Portman, Interim Chief Executive 

Officer 

Andrew Brown, Head of Democratic and 

Electoral Services 

Helen Martin, Director of Communities and 

Place 

Angela Claridge, Director of Governance 

and Development (Monitoring Officer) 

Julia Gibson, Democratic Services Officer 

Nickie Mackenzie-Daste, Senior Democratic 

Services Officer 

Tyler Jardine, Trainee Democratic Services 

Officer 

David Stanley, Deputy Chief Executive and 

Chief Finance Officer 

 

Kira Thompson, Election and Democratic 

Services Support Assistant 

Matt Abbott, Head of Communications 

Mandy Fathers, Business Manager for 

Environmental, Welfare and Revenue 

Service 

Sarah Dalby, Elections Manager 

Cheryl Sloan, Assistant Director of 

Workforce, Strategy and Transformation 

Kirsty Winters, Communications Officer 

Paul James, Economic Development Lead 

 

Observers: 

Independent Remuneration Panel Members: Nikki Clark, Nick Craxton and David Hindle 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Council 

26/November2025 

 

 

46 Apologies  

 

Apologies were received from Councillor Juliet Layton, Councillor Helene Mansilla, 

Councillor Nigel Robbins and Councillor Tristan Wilkinson. 

 

47 Declarations of Interest  

 

The Chair reminded members that in respect of item 9 on the agenda, that Council had 

agreed at its meeting on 18 January 2023 to approve, under Section 33 of the Localism 

Act 2011, a number of general dispensations. This included a dispensation as regards 

determining allowances paid to members. This dispensation enabled all members to 

participate in the discussion and vote on matters relating to members’ allowances, 

despite the direct financial interest.  

 

It was also noted that in relation to item 13 on the agenda; Local Government 

Reorganisation, councillors who were also elected to Gloucestershire County Council or 

any Town or Parish Council could participate in the debate on the  Local Government 

Reorganisation (LGR) proposals, provided that they approached the discussion with an 

open mind. The Monitoring Officer advised that prior expression of a view on LGR 

proposals did not automatically preclude participation, subject to the member 

remaining open to persuasion during the meeting. 

Furthermore, councillors who had previously declared their membership of another 

local authority in their Register of Interests were not required to repeat this declaration 

at the Full Council meeting. 

 

It was noted that the Interim Chief Executive, who was the subject of agenda item 8 

would leave the room for the duration of that item. 

 

There were no other declarations of interest. 

 

48 Minutes  

 

Council considered the minutes of the Council meeting held on 24 September 2025. 

Councillor Judd requested that an amendment be made at item 40 Public Questions, 

on question 2 from Valerie Dyson so that it better aligned with the wording used at the 

meeting. 

 

Councillor Evemy proposed the approval of the amended minutes.  The proposal was 

seconded by Councillor Stowe, put to the vote and agreed by Council. 

 

RESOLVED that the amended minutes of Full Council 24 September 2025 were 

approved as a true and accurate record.  

 

Page 10



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Voting record: 

27 For, 0 Against, 3 Abstentions. 

To APPROVE the minutes of Full Council 24 September 2025 (Resolution) 

RESOLVED that the minutes of Full Council 24 September 2025 were approved as a 

true and accurate record. 

 

For Gina Blomefield, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick Coleman, Daryl 

Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, David Fowles, 

Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, 

Julia Judd, Mike McKeown, Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Tony Slater, 

Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, 

Jon Wareing, Ian Watson and Len Wilkins 

27 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain Claire Bloomer, Laura Hall-Wilson and Andrew Maclean 3 

Carried 

 

 

49 Announcements from the Chair, Leader or Chief Executive  

 

Chair’s announcements 

The Chair advised councillors that a Cabinet meeting would follow shortly after the 

conclusion of Full Council. 

 

The Chair reported attending several Remembrance events, including the ceremony in 

Cirencester and, alongside the Chief Executive, the delivery of a wreath to the Poppy 

Train travelling to Paddington. The Chair thanked councillors who had represented the 

Council at events across the District. 

 

Condolences were expressed to former Councillor Maggie Heaven following the death 

of her husband, Frank, on 19 October. Councillor Fowles provided funeral details and 

conveyed Maggie’s thanks for the support she had received. 

 

The Chair then invited Councillor Andrew Maclean to make an announcement. 

Councillor Andrew Maclean announced his resignation as a District Councillor due to a 

serious health condition. Councillor Maclean stated that it had been a privilege to 

represent the four villages of the Rissingtons over the past six years, highlighting the 

unique character and community spirit of Upper Rissington, Great Rissington, Little 

Rissington, and Wick Rissington. Councillor Maclean thanked colleagues and residents 

for their support, reflected on his commitment to sustainability, green issues, and the 

local community, and indicated that he wished to focus on his family and faith in light 

of his prognosis.   

Page 11



Council 

26/November2025 

 

The Chair and councillors thanked Councillor Maclean for sharing his announcement 

and expressed their appreciation for his wisdom, passion, and humour during his time 

on the Council. They offered their support to him in the coming months and extended 

their best wishes. 

 

Councillor Maclean left the Chamber. 

 

Leaders announcements 

The Leader acknowledged that Councillor Maclean had left the room but noted he 

could watch the proceedings later if he wished. The Leader paid tribute to Councillor 

Maclean’s six years of service, highlighting his achievement as the first Green Councillor 

elected to the Council. Councillors recognised him as approachable, collaborative, and 

constructive, particularly on climate change issues during both previous and current 

council terms. The Leader expressed that he would be greatly missed. 

 

The Leader reflected on recent Remembrance events, attending the service in Fairford 

with the Mayor, Richard Harrison, and Councillor Vann, and parading through the town 

centre. Thanks were extended to those who attended the Council’s event, chaired by 

Councillor Mark Harris, which included representatives from  29th Regiment and the 

Royal British Legion. The Leader emphasised the importance of remembering both 

those who had lost their lives in conflicts and those who had sacrificed to secure 

freedoms. 

 

An update was provided on the local plan consultation, which had been underway for 

just over a week. Over 100 comments had been submitted, with hundreds of additional 

visits via social media and the Council website. Two forums for Town and Parish 

Councils had been held, attended by over 150 councillors and clerks, and more than 

seventy questions had been addressed and circulated to district councillors and clerks. 

 

The Leader and Councillor Layton, together with the Director of Communities and 

Place, and other officers, had attended public meetings organised by ward councillors 

and Town or Parish Councils, including in Ampney Crucis, Driffield, Kemble, and 

Willersley. Stakeholder meetings had been held in Moreton-in-Marsh, including a joint 

session with neighbouring parish councils. Further meetings were planned in Tetbury, 

Siddington, and Moreton-in-Marsh, with exhibitions commencing in Mickleton and 

continuing weekly in Moreton-in-Marsh and Fairford. 

 

Social media engagement had reached approximately 20,000 residents, and emails had 

been sent to the Council’s 8,000-strong subscriber list. Technical issues for mobile users 

had been addressed, and hard copies were available in libraries, the Council offices, 

and the Moreton Area Centre. The Leader urged councillors to encourage their 

communities to participate in the consultation and noted that supporting materials had 

been circulated to all town and parish councils on 14 November. 

 

Page 12



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Regarding housing targets, the Leader reported that a joint letter from Councillors 

Stowe, Turner, Ind, and himself had been sent to the Secretary of State requesting a 

meeting. A response offered discussions with civil servants but no direct ministerial 

meeting. It was confirmed that the offer of a meeting with civil servants would be taken 

up. The Leader expressed ongoing concern about preventing unsuitable piecemeal 

development during the Local Plan update and reassured councillors that all 

applications were being rigorously assessed. 

 

It was noted that even the Council’s preferred option, delivering approximately 813 

homes per year, 200 fewer than the government’s standard method target, would not 

meet the government’s expectation. The Leader stressed the importance of following 

the statutory process to demonstrate the limitations of the figures and confirmed 

continued lobbying of the government, working with local MPs, other councils in 

similar situations, and exploring potential legal challenges. 

 

The Leader thanked councillors for supporting community engagement and reaffirmed 

the Council’s commitment to robust consultation and transparent decision-making. 

Councillor Layton was thanked for supporting engagement activities within local 

communities. 

 

Chief Executive Officer’s announcements 

There were no announcements from the Interim Chief Executive Officer. 

 

The Chair invited Councillor Tom Stowe, Leader of the Conservative Group to speak. 

Councillor Stowe thanked the Chair and reflected on the news shared by Councillor 

Maclean and the extraordinary courage shown in delivering such devastating news.  

Councillor Stowe stated that Councillor Maclean’s insights and knowledge had always 

been greatly valued and that he commanded great respect within the Conservative 

group. He added that Councillor Maclean was a true gentleman who would be sorely 

missed in the chamber.  The Conservative group sent their best wishes and strength to 

him and to his family. 

 

50 Unsung Heroes Awards  

 

The Chair announced the Young Unsung Heroes, under 25 category, with two awards 

being noted for November: 

 

 Liam Radford was recognised as an exemplary community member and 

dedicated Police Cadet volunteer, completing over 105 hours of volunteering 

last year and more than 68 hours this year, including leading the children’s 

sports day at the Chesterton Summer Family Day. 

 

 Heidi, Otis, and Heath Forbes were also honoured for their determination in 

climbing the Three Peaks to raise £1,835 for two local causes, demonstrating 

Page 13



Council 

26/November2025 

 

remarkable teamwork and endurance over a combined distance of 23 miles with 

a total ascent of 10,052 feet. 

 

The Chair then announced the Unsung Heroes - over 25 category.  There were three 

awards in this category: 

 

 Micael Svensson was nominated for stepping in to lead the village Scout group 

during a period without leaders, covering multiple sections until replacements 

were found. He volunteered extensively at community events, assisted elderly 

neighbours, maintained the Scout hut grounds, and supported the local church. 

His dedication and care were widely recognised as having a lasting impact on 

the community. 

 

 Amy Curtis a volunteer and holistic therapist at Charlie’s Cancer Support Group 

in Cirencester, providing free reflexology and reiki sessions twice a month was 

also recognised. She consistently demonstrated compassion and selflessness, 

offering warmth and support to those affected by cancer despite facing personal 

challenges. 

 

 Allen Howe who had served as Chair of the Cirencester Branch of the Royal 

British Legion for 30 years and had been a member for 36 years was also named 

as an Unsung Hero. He organised the Poppy Appeal, Remembrance Day 

services, and fundraising concerts, supporting veterans and promoting 

community engagement. With 22 years of Army service and 20 years with the 

MOD, he continued to demonstrate tireless dedication to public service. 

 

All the winners present were applauded as they received their certificates and medals. 

 

51 Public Questions  

 

One public question had been received in advance from Mr David Redgewell.  The 

question concerned Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) and was directed at the 

Leader of the Council Councillor Mike Evemy. 

The questioner referred to the 1974 local government reorganisation. They expressed 

concern that the proposed Cheltenham and Cotswold Borough Council two unitary 

option appeared Cheltenham-centric and asked how essential services—fire, police, 

NHS provision, bus services, social services, planning, and highways—would be 

maintained under such a split. They highlighted potential duplication of key roles and 

noted that the police were planned to align with Avon and Somerset. 

 

Mr Redgewell asked whether the Council wished to become part of a smaller body, or 

to remain part of a unitary Gloucestershire structure. 

 

Page 14



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Councillor Evemy responded that the matter was under consideration as part of 

agenda item 13 on the Full Council agenda. Two proposals were being reviewed: a 

single unitary council for Gloucestershire and an East–West split. It was noted that 

Council would form a collective view during the forthcoming debate and that Cabinet 

would subsequently make formal representations to the government. It was clarified 

that the ultimate decision rested with a government minister once the government had 

considered and consulted on the options proposed to it. The points raised by the 

questioner were acknowledged as being reflected in the papers and would be 

considered during the government’s review and public consultation of all supported 

options. 

 

Mr Redgewell then asked a supplementary question, seeking clarification as to 

whether, if the Council supported a single unitary Gloucestershire, it would ensure that 

the views of Cotswolds residents were clearly communicated to the government. He 

emphasised the importance of local input into the decision-making process to ensure 

that any government decision reflected the wishes of the community. 

  

Councillor Evemy confirmed that, once Cabinet had made its decision, he intended to 

write to the government explaining the Council’s preferred option and encouraging its 

adoption. He noted that the government would conduct a public consultation, likely on 

at least two of the three options, and confirmed that the Council would encourage 

Cotswolds residents to participate. It was confirmed that the Council would 

communicate its decision publicly, including through the media, to explain which 

option it considered best for the district. 

 

Mr Redgewell then proceeded to ask his second question regarding the potential 

benefits of a unitary authority, noting that a combined mayoral authority could provide 

funding to improve public transport highlighting recent NHS integration with Bristol, 

South Gloucestershire, and North Somerset. Assurances were asked for that, as police 

and potentially fire services joined combined authorities, the Cotswolds would be 

represented in a Gloucestershire-focused authority rather than one oriented towards 

Worcester or Birmingham. It was requested that the Council work with Gloucestershire 

County Council and the Mayor of the West of England to explore joining a mayoral 

combined authority before 2032 to secure benefits for public transport, housing, and 

regional planning in the Cotswolds. 

 

Councillor Evemy responded that the matter of mayoral and strategic combined 

authorities had been discussed at leader level. The Council had considered how each 

proposed option might work with a mayoral combined authority as part of its review, 

but had not made any determination. It was acknowledged that combined authorities 

currently operated above unitary or county councils, and that the arguments raised 

regarding Gloucestershire-wide representation and local links were recognised as 

strong points for future discussion. 

 

Page 15



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Mr Redgewell then asked a final supplementary question seeking clarification as to 

whether consideration would be given to the geography of the public transport 

network when reviewing mayoral combined authorities. 

 

Councillor Mike Evemy responded that the geography of the public transport network 

would be considered, along with the economic footprint and historic links between 

Gloucestershire and potential partner areas, in assessing mayoral combined authority 

options. 

 

The Chair invited the second public speaker to put their question.   

Mr Robert Miller, a retired civil engineer, addressed the Council regarding the safety of 

residents using private hire vehicles and taxis. He noted that Uber vehicles operating in 

the Cotswolds did not hold a Cotswolds District Council (CDC) licence and were 

therefore operating outside of local regulations. He emphasised that local authorities 

were responsible for safeguarding passengers through statutory licensing standards, 

with the primary objective of protecting the public. Mr Miller cited the Department for 

Transport guidance from 2006 and past enforcement actions, including a 2018 

Gloucestershire Police sting operation at Cheltenham races, to illustrate the importance 

of regulation. He reported that, during the summer, an estimated 10 to 15 out-of-area 

private hire vehicles from locations such as South Gloucestershire, Wolverhampton, 

Swindon, and Dudley had been operating in the North Cotswolds without licences. He 

asked how the Council was fulfilling its duty of care under these circumstances and 

requested that the Council consider directing licensing to implement a geo-fence to 

prevent unlicensed app-based services, such as Uber, from operating in the district. 

  

Councillor Andrea Pellegram, Cabinet Member for Environment and Regulatory 

Services, confirmed that a consultation would be undertaken and outlined that the 

Council carried out regular licensing checks, including monthly checks of licensed 

drivers. While noting the concerns raised regarding out-of-area app-based services 

such as Uber, the Cabinet Member indicated that the Council may not have the ability 

to block such apps. They offered to meet with Mr Miller and colleagues to discuss the 

issues, explore possible actions, and explain any limitations in what the Council could 

do. 

 

Mr Miller thanked the portfolio holder and further noted that a report was being 

prepared by the Mayor of Greater Manchester addressing the issue of out-of-area 

vehicles operating locally. They confirmed that a copy of the report and relevant links 

would be provided to the Cabinet Member. 

 

A further public question was received from  Peggy Tout and Bob Irving, who could not 

attend due to ill health.   They asked: 

 

“We understand that bus transport is the responsibility of Gloucestershire County 

Council. But as Cotswold District Council considers future government reorganisation, 

Page 16



Council 

26/November2025 

 

can you share how CDC intends to ensure that passengers’ experiences and 

accessibility needs — particularly of young people, older residents and those without 

cars — are clearly represented within any discussions about transport governance or 

structures?  (Whatever form the governmental organisation may take, given that a 

mayoral authority has greater commissioning powers for bus services.) 

Would CDC consider ways of strengthening communication between district-level 

services (planning, local information, health, community groups) and the transport 

authority so that local passenger impacts can be fed in more effectively at an earlier 

stage? 

“We’re not asking CDC to run transport — but there are many local impacts (access to 

care, education, employment) and people feel there isn’t currently a clear way to feed 

those into the transport authority before decisions are made.” 

 

It was agreed that a written response would be published with the minutes of the 

meeting.  

The response reads:  

Local Government Reorganisation is a valuable opportunity to join up services currently 

split between District and County Authorities, and that is already starting through the 

collaborative work to define shared ambitions. Cotswold District Council, and the other 

Gloucestershire Authorities, are concerned about rural isolation and transport related 

social exclusion, and this is reflected in each of the proposals being submitted to 

Government.  For example reference is made to “giving residents a stronger role in 

shaping services, with tools and partnerships that make delivery more responsive to 

local needs” and to “using data to transform transport and public services: creating 

trusted, joined-up intelligence to improve safeguarding, support early and anticipatory 

intervention, and deliver more effective integrated transport”. 

   

As Local Government Reorganisation progresses we can expect there to be more 

coordination towards delivering on the ambitions and opportunities arising through 

this transformational change. CDC’s input on this topic of effective participation on 

public transport issues is being taken up by our Sustainable Transport Lead. In the 

meantime, we will highlight the concerns you raise and continue publicising any 

opportunities for engagement that we are made aware of by the County Council.  

 

The County Council is already working closely with us on the supporting evidence for 

the Local Plan update, in which accessibility by public transport and by walking, 

wheeling and cycling are important topics. As highlighted, special attention is needed 

to understand and plan for the needs of different public transport users, and this is 

focus for both CDC and the County Council.  

 

The Chair thanked members of the public present for attending and engaging with the 

Council. 

 

 

Page 17



Council 

26/November2025 

 

52 Member Questions  

 

Councillors’ written questions, written responses, supplementary questions and 

supplementary responses can be found in Annex A attached.  

 

53 Appointment of a Permanent Chief Executive Officer (Head of Paid 

Service), Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer  

 

The purpose of this report was to approve the recommendation of the Performance 

and Appointments Committee that the Interim Chief Executive Officer (Head of Paid 

Service) and Returning Officer / Electoral Registration Officer be appointed on a 

permanent basis from 1 January 2026. 

 

To avoid any potential perceptions of bias, the Interim Chief Executive Officer, Jane 

Portman withdrew from the meeting for the duration of the item. 

 

The Leader, Councillor Mike Evemy, introduced the item and clarified that 

recommendation three should have included the words ‘and electoral registration 

officer’ after ‘returning officer’.  Councillors noted the amended recommendation. 

 

Councillors noted that Jane Portman, appointed as Interim Chief Executive Officer in 

June 2025, had brought valuable experience from previous local government 

reorganisations. A probation review in September, informed by feedback from the 

Leader and opposition members, confirmed her effective leadership and positive 

impact. Subsequent discussions considered her permanent appointment, including 

terms, salary benchmarking, and a one-off relocation allowance. The Performance and 

Appointments Committee met in November and unanimously recommended her 

appointment as permanent Chief Executive, and Councillors were invited to support the 

recommendation. 

  

There were no questions for clarity. 

 

Councillor Tom Stowe seconded the recommendation, and his involvement in the 

Performance and Appointments Committee and performance appraisals was noted. 

Members acknowledged that Jane Portman had provided stability and clarity during a 

period of organisational change, including the departure of the previous Chief 

Executive, changes in Cabinet leadership, the completion of phase two of the Publica 

transition, and uncertainty around forthcoming Local Government Reorganisation. The 

Committee had considered alternative options, including external recruitment, and 

undertaken salary benchmarking in line with Cotswold District Council policy. It 

concluded that her permanent appointment offered proven leadership, stability, and 

continuity, while also being cost-effective. Positive feedback had been received from 

staff and members, and Councillors were encouraged to support the recommendation. 

 

Page 18



Council 

26/November2025 

 

The Chair moved to the debate – there were no requests to speak in debate. 

 

The Chair then moved to the vote on the amended resolution which was proposed by 

Councillor Mike Evemy and seconded by Councillor Tom Stowe. 

 

Voting Record: 

29 For, 0 Against, 0 Abstentions. 

Did not vote: Councillor Andrew MacClean having left the meeting. 

 

 

To approve the Recommendation of the Performance and Appointments 

Committee (Resolution) 

Council RESOLVED to: 

1.    Appoint Jane Portman to the role of permanent Chief Executive Officer with 

effect from 1 January 2026 on an annual salary of £140,000 with an additional 

one-off allowance of up to £8,000. 

2.    Appoint Jane Portman as the Council’s Head of Paid Service for the purposes of 

Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 with effect from 1 

January 2026. 

3.    Appoint Jane Portman as the Council’s Returning Officer and Electoral 

Registration Officer for the purposes of Section 35 of the Representation of the 

Peoples Act (1983) and Regulation 4 of the Parish & Community Meeting (Polls) 

Rules (1987). 

 

For Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick 

Coleman, Daryl Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, 

David Fowles, Laura Hall-Wilson, Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul 

Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd, Mike McKeown, 

Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Tony Slater, Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, 

Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing, Ian Watson 

and Len Wilkins 

29 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain None 0 

Carried 

 

 

54 Mid-Term Review of Members' Allowances Scheme  

 

The purpose of the report was to present to Council the recommendations of the 

Independent Remuneration Panel which had undertaken a mid-term review of the 

Council’s members’ allowances scheme. 

Page 19



Council 

26/November2025 

 

 

Nick Craxton, Chair of the Independent Remuneration Panel, introduced the report and 

stated that the Panel comprised a broad and well-balanced range of experience across 

the private and public sectors, subject matter experts, reward and HR specialists, and 

individuals familiar with the Council’s operations. He emphasised that the Panel’s 

recommendations had followed extensive discussion, with several matters revisited in 

light of further evidence. 

The Panel Chair highlighted the challenges the Panel had faced in proposing councillor 

and leadership remuneration, noting that the requirement to reflect a “public service” 

element — implying lower pay — might be seen as conflicting with the Council’s aim 

to make these roles accessible to a wider range of people. 

It was noted that the panel had considered written representations from the former 

Leader and heard evidence from the current Leader. The former  Leader spoke about 

the possibility of the role of Leader being considered a full-time role, Mr Craxton 

advised that the Panel could not give this weight, as full-time arrangements were 

neither legislated nor prescribed. He added that making the role full-time would 

require substantially higher pay, noting that a locally advertised trade counter 

supervisor post offered a higher salary than the Council Leader both before and after 

the proposed increase. 

The  Panel Chair concluded by noting that consideration of economic context and 

affordability lay outside the Panel’s remit and was a matter for the Council. He 

indicated that he was happy to answer questions. 

 

The Chair indicated that Councillor Evemy would be invited to propose the 

recommendations and that there would be the opportunity to ask any questions for 

clarity.  The Chair advised that the report should be taken at face value and that it was 

not necessary to examine the Panel’s detailed methodology.  

 

Councillor Evemy thanked Mr Craxton for attending and acknowledged the significant 

work undertaken by the Panel over several meetings. He noted that he had attended 

one meeting and valued the opportunity to contribute. 

Councillors were reminded that this was a mid-term review. It was noted that no 

changes had been made to Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) during the 

previous review, as it had been unclear whether increased workloads were temporary 

or would persist. It was further noted that the Panel had drawn on the councillor 

workload survey and on representations from the former Leader, himself, and other 

councillors. 

 

Councillor Evemy acknowledged the difficulty for councillors in determining their own 

allowances, which underlined the value of the Independent Remuneration Panel. It was 

reported that the Panel had recommended increased SRAs for Cabinet roles and for 

the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Audit and Governance 

Committee. These recommendations were in recognition of the workload associated 

with these roles. 

Page 20



Council 

26/November2025 

 

 

Councillors were also asked to note recommendations to update provisions on co-

opted member allowances, clarify approved duties, and provide a framework for town 

and parish council allowances, including specific reference to Cirencester Town Council. 

Further work would be undertaken by officers in early 2026 on a tiered allowances 

scheme for town and parish councils. 

 

Councillor Evemy moved all ten recommendations set out on pages 27 and 28 of the 

agenda, noting that the implementation of the increases would be backdated to 1 April 

2025. 

 

The Chair then requested any questions for clarity. 

 

Councillor Fowles referred to section 5.1 of the report,  and noted that councils were 

required to have regard to the Panel’s recommendations but were not obliged to 

accept them. The councillor asked whether other councils had accepted or waived 

similar recommendations in light of current financial pressures, and whether this 

Council was the exception or the norm.  

 

Councillor Evemy responded that each authority determined its own allowances. He 

confirmed the Panel had considered other authorities’ schemes, but it was for the 

Council to decide whether to accept the recommendations. 

 

Councillor Fowles then asked for clarity regarding Cirencester Town Council and 

queried why the report specifically referenced Cirencester, given that other large 

settlements, such as Moreton, faced significant pressures.  

 

Councillor Evemy explained that Cirencester Town Council already had a members’ 

allowance scheme in place, and the Town Council’s Chief Executive had met the Panel 

to discuss it. The recommendation was intended to formalise a benchmark of 20% of 

the basic allowance. He added that Recommendation 9 provided for officers to engage 

with other town and parish councils about establishing tiered allowance schemes, 

should they wish to do so. 

 

The Chair sought a seconder for the recommendations. 

 

Councillor Patrick Coleman thanked the Panel Chair and Panel Members for their 

professional approach. He noted the additional budget implications and that 

allowances could be renounced. Acknowledging the significant workload and 

complexity of Cabinet roles, Councillor Coleman confirmed his support for the 

proposed allowances and seconded the motion. 

 

The Chair moved to the debate. 

 

Page 21



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Supporters of the proposed increases argued that adequate remuneration was 

necessary to encourage broader participation in local government, particularly from 

younger people and those from diverse backgrounds. It was noted that councillor roles 

carried significant responsibilities affecting residents’ lives, and allowances should 

reflect this to ensure high-quality democratic representation. Several speakers 

highlighted that financial support could help remove barriers for those who might 

otherwise be unable to participate due to personal circumstances. In addition, the 

increased workloads of Cabinet members and Committee Chairs, particularly in the 

context of local government reorganisation, were cited as justification for the proposed 

increases in Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA’s). Provision for town and parish 

councils to consider allowances for volunteers undertaking significant responsibilities 

was welcomed, and the recommendations were described as a fair recognition of the 

work undertaken. 

 

Opponents of the proposed increases focused on financial constraints and broader 

economic pressures. Concerns were raised that the cumulative cost, while modest per 

individual, represented a significant expense for the Council and that any savings 

should benefit taxpayers or be invested in services rather than councillor allowances. 

Some argued that councillors served their communities as a matter of public service, 

and additional remuneration could risk undermining motivation and the quality of 

elected members. The timing of the increases was questioned in light of cost-of-living 

pressures, inflation, and forthcoming local government changes, with caution that it 

might send the wrong signal to residents and parish councils. 

 

A number of points were raised for clarification, including the modest level of the basic 

allowance, the total additional cost of the proposals, and the rationale for distinctions 

between roles based on workload and responsibilities.  

In summing up, Councillor Mike Evemy noted that this was the third debate on 

members’ allowances since 2019 and addressed points raised during the discussion. He 

refuted suggestions that the Council had “pleaded poverty” or slashed services, and 

emphasised that the proposed increase of £3,144 per annum for ten members was 

modest and reflected the significant workloads of Cabinet Members and Committee 

Chairs. 

 

The distinctions between roles were highlighted, noting increased responsibilities for 

Cabinet Members and some Committee Chairs, and emphasised that some 

remuneration was necessary to enable participation by those for whom financial 

constraints might otherwise be a barrier. Councillor Evemy supported the Panel’s 

recommendations as a fair recognition of work undertaken, reinforced the importance 

of diversity and inclusion, and councillors were encouraged to approve the proposals. 

 

The Chair then moved to the vote on the resolution proposed by Councillor Mike 

Evemy and seconded by Councillor Patrick Coleman. 

 

Page 22



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Voting Record: 

18 For, 7 Against, 3 Abstentions. 

Did not vote: Councillors Andrew Maclean having left the meeting and Ray Brassington. 

 

To Approve the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel 

(Resolution) 

Resolved that Council APPROVED the recommendations of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel with regards to Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA’s): 

1. The SRA for Leader is increased from 3.0x the basic allowance to 3.5x the basic 

allowance. 

2. The SRA for Deputy Leader be increased from 2.0x basic to 2.5x basic. 

3. The SRA for Cabinet Member be increased from 1.5x basic to 2.0x basic. 

4. The SRA for Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee be increased from 1.0x 

basic to 1.5x basic. 

5. The SRA for Chair of Audit and Governance Committee be increased from 0.5x 

basic to 1.0x basic. 

6. That any agreed increases to SRAs be backdated to 1 April 2025. 

  

Council also APPROVED 

7. That the existing allowance for Co-opted Members of £1,000 per annum be 

included in the Scheme. 

8. That additional clarification be provided on expenses claims in the Scheme, 

specifically that: 

a. The list of approved duties for which expenses can be claimed is included 

in the Scheme. 

b. VAT receipts are requested for mileage claims. 

c. Mileage claims should normally be calculated from the Councillor’s home 

address. 

d. Claims should be made within 3 months of the expenditure being 

incurred. 

e. Mileage rates are aligned with HMRC rates to prevent the creation of 

taxable benefits. 

9. That Officers engage with town and parish councils in the New Year on the 

option of establishing a tiered allowances scheme to guide town and parish 

councils in the payment of allowances to elected town and parish councillors, to 

enable the Independent Remuneration Panel (as the Parish Remuneration Panel) 

to assess whether such guidance would be useful. 

Council also NOTED 

10. that the Parish Remuneration Panel has recommended to Cirencester Town 

Council that Cirencester Town Councillors (including the Chair) receive an 

Page 23



Council 

26/November2025 

 

allowance set at 20% of the basic allowance paid to Cotswold District 

Councillors. 

 

For Claire Bloomer, Nick Bridges, Patrick Coleman, Tony Dale, Mike 

Evemy, Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus 

Jenkinson, Mike McKeown, Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Lisa Spivey, 

Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing and Ian Watson 

18 

Against Daryl Corps, David Fowles, Laura Hall-Wilson, Julia Judd, Tom Stowe, 

Jeremy Theyer and Len Wilkins 

7 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain Gina Blomefield, David Cunningham and Tony Slater 3 

Carried 

 

 

55 Council Tax Support Scheme 2026/2027  

 

The purpose of this report was to consider the revised Council Tax Support Scheme for 

the financial year 2026/27. 

 

The item was introduced by Councillor Patrick Coleman, Cabinet Member for Finance 

who explained that the Council had discretion over the design of its Council Tax 

Support Scheme, which provided reductions for working-age residents on low incomes 

or in receipt of benefits. The proposal was to continue the existing scheme with an 

uprating in line with welfare benefits, reflecting a 3.8% increase as set out in the report. 

 

It was noted that the approach aimed to move towards harmonisation with other 

districts in anticipation of the future unitary authority. The Council’s scheme was 

considered one of the most generous in the county. The impact of the Government’s 

abolition of the two-child limit was highlighted, noting that affected households would 

receive increased government support, with a small adjustment applied through the 

Council Tax Support Scheme. 

 

Thanks were expressed to all those involved, for their work in developing and 

maintaining the scheme since its inception. 

 

There were no questions for clarity 

 

Councillor Clare Bloomer, Cabinet Member for Communities seconded the resolution 

and welcomed the proposals, noting that many families, including working households, 

were facing cost-of-living pressures. Officers were commended for their work, 

highlighting the support provided through hardship funding and the Low Income 

Family Tracker (LIFT) programme, which proactively identified residents who might not 

be claiming benefits they were entitled to. It was noted that annual Council Tax bills 

Page 24



Council 

26/November2025 

 

were accompanied by benefit information and guidance to ensure residents could  

access available support. 

 

The Chair then moved to the debate. The Council’s leadership on cost-of-living support 

over recent years was commended. It was highlighted that the Council’s approach was 

regarded locally and nationally as a model for supporting vulnerable residents.  

 

The Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) programme was praised as being transformative 

for residents, ensuring that people were aware of and able to access the support 

available. Special recognition was given to the work of officers, in particular the 

benefits team, for effectively delivering complex policies and making information 

accessible to both councillors and the public. 

 

The government’s abolition of the two-child benefit cap was welcomed as a significant 

step towards reducing child poverty, particularly in rural areas of the district. 

Councillors concluded that the combination of the Council Tax Support Scheme, the 

LIFT programme, and the removal of the two-child cap represented a substantial 

achievement in addressing financial hardship and improving outcomes for local 

families. 

 

The Chair moved to the vote on the resolution proposed by Councillor Coleman and 

seconded by Councillor Bloomer. 

 

Voting record: 

29 For, 0 Against, 0 Abstention 

Did not vote: Councillor Andrew Maclean having left the meeting 

 

To approve the revised Council Tax Support Scheme for the financial year 

2026/27. (Resolution) 

Council resolved to : 

1.    Agree the increase to income bands as detailed within paragraphs 3.2, 3.3 and 

Annex A of this report from 1 April 2026.  

2.    Agree that any balance remaining in the earmarked reserve ‘Hardship Fund’ be 

made available in 2026/27 financial year for reasons detailed in paragraphs 3.6 

and 3.7 of this report. 

 

For Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick 

Coleman, Daryl Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, 

David Fowles, Laura Hall-Wilson, Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul 

Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd, Mike McKeown, 

Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Tony Slater, Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, 

Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing, Ian Watson 

and Len Wilkins 

29 

Page 25



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain None 0 

Carried 

 

 

56 Community Governance Review  

 

The purpose of this report was to approve and adopt the Terms of Reference for a 

Community Governance Review, along with draft proposals 

The item was introduced by Councillor Mike Evemy, Leader of the Council.  It was 

noted that the papers before the Council represented responses from the consultations 

with Town and Parish Councils regarding potential changes to their democratic 

arrangements or boundaries. Councillors were asked to agree to consult on all 

proposed changes, without making judgments at this stage, acknowledging that some 

proposals might be controversial. 

Attention was drawn to an omission in Annex B, where certain roads in Watermoor 

Ward and Siddington had not been included. The correction would result in a total of 

253 properties being affected by the proposed boundary changes, reducing the 

number of properties in Siddington from 731 to 478, and increasing the number in 

Cirencester, Watermoor, and surrounding areas from 1,580 to 1,833. An updated annex 

B would be included with the minutes of the meeting. 

It was also noted that the proposals included requests from town and parish councils 

to increase their number of members and to create wards for Tetbury Town Council.   

Questions for clarity included requests for clarification on which roads and  businesses 

were included. The Electoral Services Manager confirmed that all details would be 

thoroughly checked before going out to public consultation. 

Councillor David Fowles seconded the resolution and thanked the Electoral Services 

team for their continued work in ensuring proper representation and managing 

elections effectively. The proposals from several parishes to increase the number of 

councillors were welcomed, this was highlighted as a positive response to local 

pressures and community engagement. The report and the consultation timetable were 

commended and the forthcoming public consultations were welcomed.  Fellow 

Councillors were encouraged to endorse the proposals.  

There was no further debate. 

The Chair moved to the vote on the resolution proposed by Councillor Evemy 

seconded by Councillor Fowles. 

Page 26



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Voting record: 

29 For, 0 Against, 0 Abstentions. 

Did not vote: Councillor Andrew Maclean having left the meeting 

 

To approve and adopt the Terms of Reference for a Community Governance 

Review, along with draft proposals (Resolution) 

Council resolved to: 

APPROVE and ADOPT the Terms of Reference and Draft Proposals for consultation for 

the Community Governance Review (CGR). 

 

For Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick 

Coleman, Daryl Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, 

David Fowles, Laura Hall-Wilson, Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul 

Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd, Mike McKeown, 

Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Tony Slater, Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, 

Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing, Ian Watson 

and Len Wilkins 

29 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain None 0 

Carried 

 

 

57 Programme of Meetings for 2026/2027  

 

The purpose of this report was to set a programme of Council and Committee 

meetings for 2026/27. 

The item was introduced by Councillor Mike Evemy, Leader of the Council who stated 

that the current meeting schedule had been rolled forward into 2026–27. He reminded 

Councillors that Cabinet now met nine times a year, with Overview and Scrutiny aligned 

to those core meetings to support effective pre-decision scrutiny, and confirmed that 

this approach would continue. No changes to meeting start times were proposed. 

It was noted that Democratic Services had attempted to avoid the key party conference 

dates when scheduling meeting dates. 

It was highlighted that the report recommendations delegated authority to the Director 

of Governance and Development, in consultation with Group Leaders, to amend the 

schedule if the committee structure changed, and to the Head of Democratic and 

Electoral Services to set dates for the Performance and Appointments Committee, 

member briefings, training sessions and working groups. Councillor Evemy asked that 

Page 27



Council 

26/November2025 

 

recommendation 4 be amended to retain only the agreement to roll meeting start 

times forward from 2025–26 as no alternatives were being proposed. 

There were no questions for clarity.  

Councillor Claire Bloomer, Cabinet Member for Communities seconded the resolution 

and reserved the right to speak. 

The Chair then moved to the debate, and there was no further debate. 

The Chair moved to the vote on the resolution proposed by Councillor Evemy and 

seconded by Councillor Bloomer. 

Voting record: 

29 For, 0 Against, 0 Abstentions 

Did not vote: Councillor Andrew Maclean having left the meeting 

 

To set a programme of Council and Committee meetings for 2026/27. 

(Resolution) 

Council RESOLVED to  

1.    Agree the programme of meetings from June 2026 to May 2027 as set out in 

Annex A and Annex B. 

2.    Delegate authority to the Director of Governance and Development 

(Monitoring Officer), in consultation with Group Leaders, to make changes to the 

programme of meetings in the event that there is any future decision of Council 

to change the committee structure or committee remits that impacts the 

programme of meetings. 

3.    Delegate authority to the Head of Democratic and Electoral Services to set the 

meeting dates for the Performance and Appointments Committee, member 

training and briefing sessions, any working groups established by the Council 

and any meetings of the Licensing Sub-Committee (Licensing Act 2003 Matters) 

and the Standards Hearings Sub-Committee (if required). 

4.    Agree that the meeting start times will be rolled forwards from 2025/26. 

 

For Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick 

Coleman, Daryl Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, 

David Fowles, Laura Hall-Wilson, Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul 

Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd, Mike McKeown, 

Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Tony Slater, Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, 

Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing, Ian Watson 

and Len Wilkins 

29 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of None 0 

Page 28



Council 

26/November2025 

 

Interests 

Abstain None 0 

Carried 

 

 

58 Local Government Reorganisation Proposal - Full Proposal for Local 

Government reorganisation (LGR) in Gloucestershire  

 

The purpose of this report was to note the two proposals for local government 

reorganisation in Gloucestershire that had been developed collaboratively with all 

seven Gloucestershire councils for consideration by the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee on 17 November 2025, Council on 26 November 2025 and Cabinet on 26 

November 2025. 

The options proposed were: 

a) creating a single unitary authority for the whole county and 

b) creating two unitary authorities, based on an East / West division of existing 

district and city councils. The proposal for East Gloucestershire Council 

comprised Tewksbury Borough Council, Cheltenham Borough Council and 

Cotswold District Council and the associated proportion of Gloucestershire 

County Council. The proposal for West Gloucestershire Council comprised 

Gloucester City Council, Forest of Dean District Council and Stroud District 

Council and the associated proportion of Gloucestershire County Council. 

 

Following engagement with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Council, 

Cabinet would determine which, if any, proposal should be formally submitted to the 

Minister for Housing, Communities and Local Government in response to his invitation 

of 5 February 2025. 

 

The item was introduced by the Leader, Councillor Mike Evemy, who gave some 

background and explained that the process had been lengthy, beginning with a 

ministerial letter sent to the former Leader in February 2025. Work had continued since 

then, leading to that afternoon’s meeting, where Cotswold District Council’s Cabinet—

last among the seven principal authorities—would formally make its decision. It was 

emphasised that the ultimate choice rested with the government, which intended to 

replace existing county, district, and borough councils with unitary authorities and 

would select from the submitted proposals. It was further noted that the extensive 

documents reviewed by members, including the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

would be sent to the government. Of the six councils that had already decided, three 

preferred a single Gloucestershire unitary, one supported a two-unitary east–west 

model, one backed the Greater Gloucestershire proposal, and one expressed no 

preference and opposed reorganisation.  

 

Page 29



Council 

26/November2025 

 

The Leader then spoke to the proposed resolution to Council around Local 

Government Reorganisation, which had been made available to Councillors as a printed 

document. (Item 13 - Annex A). 

 

Councillor Evemy noted that the process had been a long journey.  Some had initially 

feared that a single Gloucestershire unitary would be too large and might weaken local 

representation, but the Council had avoided prejudgment and worked through the 

evidence. He explained that many involved had gradually concluded that a single 

unitary would offer stronger, less disruptive service delivery and greater financial 

resilience than an east–west split, while acknowledging that both proposals were viable 

and that the government could choose either option. The Council was asked to support 

recommending the single unitary in a joint letter from six of the seven councils  

confirming which of the options were preferred. The letter would be submitted before 

Friday’s deadline, alongside an explanatory letter from the Leader. It was noted that 

work would continue after submission, with leaders and chief executives preparing for 

the next stage while the government assessed options, planned consultation would 

take place in the period January to April, and the government aimed to communicate 

its decision by summer 2026. 

 

The Chair welcomed any questions for clarity.   

 

Councillor Fowles queried whether, if support for the resolution was unanimous would 

it be reflected in the letter to the Minister?   Councillor Evemy confirmed that if all 

members supported the proposal, it would be stated in the letter, as it would 

demonstrate careful consideration and a shared view that the option best served the 

Cotswolds. 

It was further clarified that the same report had already been considered by Overview 

and Scrutiny and the proposed resolution effectively replaced Recommendation 1 for 

Cabinet to act upon. Overview & Scrutiny had already met, and any comments from 

Councillors would be considered before voting. 

Councillor Gina Blomefield, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee explained 

that the tight timetable; moving from Overview & Scrutiny to Full Council to Cabinet 

before submission to government, left no practical time for  call-in of the Cabinet 

decision. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee believed a call-in was highly unlikely 

and had therefore recommended to Cabinet that it be disapplied. 

 

Councillor Tom Stowe, Leader of the Conservative Group, seconded the resolution, 

noting that it superseded the recommendations in the original report. Members 

acknowledged the challenge of reviewing over 600 pages of material, condensed into a 

30-page options appraisal, and agreed the resolution effectively focused attention on 

the task, its context, and next steps. The significant effort by councillors and officers 

across Gloucestershire councils in evaluating all options to secure the best future for 

local government and residents was recognised. It was emphasised that the 

reorganisation decision was initiated by government and required constructive 

Page 30



Council 

26/November2025 

 

engagement. While both the single unitary and East–West proposals were credible, the 

evaluation identified the single unitary council as the stronger option for long-term 

resilience, financial viability, sustainability, and service delivery. Councillors noted that 

the ultimate decision rested with government and that further effort, careful planning, 

and support for staff would be required. Councillor Stowe confirmed that supporting 

the resolution would send a clear and reasoned message to government about what 

was believed to best serve Cotswolds residents. 

 

The Chair then moved to the debate first enquiring if anyone held a contrary view to 

the proposed resolution. 

 

During the extensive debate the following points were made: 

1. Services and Scrutiny: 

 Splitting essential county services (public health, trading standards, coroner, fire 

and rescue) would be difficult, supporting a single unitary council. 

 Scrutiny of county-wide services, including health, would be more effective 

under a single unitary. 

 Maintaining high-quality, safe social care services was a priority. 

 

2. Local Engagement and Devolution 

 The need to decentralise powers to town and parish councils to maintain local 

engagement was stressed. 

 Councillors highlighted the importance of town and parish councils stepping up 

to fill gaps caused by a reduction in the overall number of elected members. 

 Clear information should be provided to support effective neighbourhood 

governance. 

 Neighbourhood models and inter-council collaboration were emphasised as 

critical. 

 

3. Financial Considerations 

 Concern was raised that the cost of reorganisation would be borne by councils, 

potentially reducing funds for essential services. 

 It was noted that financial analyses were estimates and actual outcomes could 

vary. 

 Once implemented, a single unitary council was expected to generate financial 

savings and collaborative benefits. 

 Advantages for digital services and networks were also recognised. 

 Speakers warned that funding crises for key services would not be resolved by 

reorganisation alone. 

 

4. Governance, Oversight, and Support 

 The role of Overview & Scrutiny in monitoring the transition to a unitary 

authority was highlighted. 

Page 31



Council 

26/November2025 

 

 The importance of ensuring that staff and town/parish councils were adequately 

supported during the transition was emphasised. 

 Regular reporting to Overview and Scrutiny was noted as a mechanism to keep 

the Council informed. 

 

5. Representation and Resident Focus 

 Concerns were raised about reduced councillor numbers limiting local 

representation. 

 Clarity and simplicity for residents were seen as important benefits of a single 

unitary. 

 The importance of neighbourhood partnerships and addressing democratic 

deficits was emphasised. 

 The need to focus on both residents and businesses was highlighted. 

 

Overall, the single unitary authority option was preferred for prioritising service 

continuity, financial efficiency, and ensuring local voices were heard across the county. 

 

Speakers consistently stressed supporting parish and town councils, learning from 

other regions, maintaining financial sustainability, protecting essential services, and 

ensuring continued local engagement under a single unitary council. 

 

Councillor Evemy summed up, thanking members for their contributions and 

acknowledging the wide-ranging debate. It was noted that, while some councils, such 

as the Forest of Dean, had already made their own decisions, the role of Council was to 

express a preference. It appeared that, on balance members had concluded that a 

single unitary authority would be preferable to an East–West split, particularly to 

maintain continuity of essential services, including social care, public health, and other 

county-wide functions. It was recognised that reorganisation would not resolve 

broader funding challenges, though it offered some financial savings. The importance 

of establishing effective neighbourhood partnerships to address potential democratic 

deficits and support large rural areas was acknowledged, alongside the need to engage 

and inform town and parish councils. Councillor Evemy highlighted the value of lessons 

from other councils, the role of Overview & Scrutiny in monitoring the transition, and 

the need to keep MPs informed of the Council’s decision.  Councillors were encouraged 

to support the resolution proposed by Councillor Evemy and seconded by Councillor 

Stowe to express the Council’s preference for a single unitary authority. 

 

The resolution read as follows: 

This Council recognises: 

1. That the decision to move towards unitary council(s) in Gloucestershire was 

made by the Government rather than by the councils in the county. 

2. The work done by councillors and officers across Gloucestershire to prepare the 

two proposals for Local Government Re-organisation (LGR) in the county. 

Page 32



Council 

26/November2025 

 

3. That the final decision on the future shape of local government in 

Gloucestershire will be made by a government minister. 

This Council believes: 

1. That the single-unitary option and the east/west unitary option are both viable 

proposals that could be implemented. 

2. That there are strengths to each of the two options being considered by the 

Council. 

3. That on balance, the single unitary council for Gloucestershire would provide a 

stronger and less disruptive basis for the delivery of services and a more robust 

and resilient financial position than new unitary councils for the east and west of 

the county. 

The Chair moved to the vote on the resolution proposed by Councillor Evemy 

seconded by Councillor Stowe. 

 

Voting record: 

29 For, 0 Against, 0 Abstentions 

Did not vote: Councillor Andrew Maclean having left the meeting 

 

To approve the resolution put before Council (Resolution) 

Council RESOLVED to: 

1.    Request that the Cabinet proposes the single unitary council for Gloucestershire 

in response to the minister’s invitation on 5 February 2025 

2.    Request that the Leader sends an accompanying letter to the minister 

indicating the reasons for this decision based upon the debate at this meeting 

and at Cabinet 

3.    Request that the Cabinet and Officers continue their work to prepare for LGR in 

advance of a decision by the government that is expected in June or July 2026. 

 

For Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick 

Coleman, Daryl Corps, David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, 

David Fowles, Laura Hall-Wilson, Mark Harris, Joe Harris, Paul 

Hodgkinson, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd, Mike McKeown, 

Dilys Neill, Andrea Pellegram, Tony Slater, Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, 

Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing, Ian Watson 

and Len Wilkins 

29 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain None 0 

Carried 

Page 33



Council 

26/November2025 

 

 

 

59 Next meeting  

 

The next meeting of Full Council was confirmed as being on 21 January at 2:00 pm. 

 

 

The Meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and closed at 5.47 pm 

 

 (END) 

Page 34



 
 
 
 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

COUNCIL – 21 JANUARY 2026 

Subject NEW FEE FOR PRIMATE LICENCES 

Wards affected All  

Accountable member Councillor Andrea Pellegram –Cabinet Member for Environment 

and Regulatory Services 

Email:  Andrea.Pellegram@cotswold.gov.uk     

Accountable officer Jon Dearing – Executive Director   

Email: jon.dearing@cotswold.gov.uk  

Report Author Mandy Fathers – Business Manager for Environmental, Welfare and 

Revenues 

Email: mandy.fathers@cotswold.gov.uk        

Summary/Purpose To seek approval to implement a fee for primate licensing 

applications 

Annexes None 

Recommendation(s) Subject to the resolutions of the Planning and Licensing Committee 

on 14 January 2026, Council is recommended to: 

1. Agree that the fees applicable to Primate Keeper Licence 

applications are set as detailed in paragraph 3.9. 

Corporate priorities  Delivering Good Services  

Key Decision NO  

Exempt NO 

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

Leader, Cabinet Member for Environment and Regulatory Services, 

Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive, Chief Accountant and 

Deputy S151 officer, Director of Governance and Development, 

Director of Communities and Place, Head of Legal Services, 

Assistant Director, Managing Director (Publica) 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Andrea.Pellegram@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:Jon
mailto:jon.dearing@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:mandy.fathers@cotswold.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report proposes the introduction of new fees in respect of Primate licensing 

applications. 

 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 In 2024, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), through 

Regulations made under the Animal Welfare Act 2006, introduced the Animal Welfare 

(Primate Licences) (England) Regulations 2024. The Licensing Authority for the 

purposes of these Regulations is the local authority in whose area the premises at 

which a primate is kept or is to be kept are situated. 

 

3. MAIN POINTS 

3.1 The Regulations introduce a licensing scheme, setting strict rules to ensure that only 

private keepers, who can provide zoo-level welfare standards, will be able to keep 

primates. 

3.2 Primates include: 

 Marmosets 

 Tamarins 

 Squirrel Monkeys 

 Spider Monkeys 

 Capuchin Monkeys 

 Lemurs 

 Lorisids (also known as bush babies) 

 

3.3 The Regulations came into force on 6 April 2025, at which time existing private primate 

keepers and people proposing to keep primates will be required to hold a licence. 

3.4 From 6 April 2026 it will become an offence to keep a primate in England without a 

licence. The only exemptions to the requirement to hold a licence will be where the 

primates concerned are being kept in a licensed zoo or a place specified in a licence 

under section 2C of the Animal (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986.  

3.5 The Regulations set out the application process and the conditions that must be placed 

on the licence if granted. Further conditions may be stipulated in the Statutory 

Guidance. 

3.6 An inspection must be carried out prior to an application being determined, and a 

further inspection is required on at least one occasion during the duration of the 

licence. These inspections must be conducted by a” suitable person” which is defined 

by the regulations as being: 

Page 36



 
 
 
 

a) A veterinarian (VET); or 

b) Any other person who, in view of the local authority, is suitably qualified and 

competent to carry out the inspection. 

3.7 A licence must be granted for a period of three years or where the applicant has 

requested a licence for a period of less than three years, for such shorter period that 

the applicant has requested. 

3.8 There are also provisions in the regulations for the holder of a primate licence to 

request to vary or surrender the licence as well as provisions for the licensing authority 

to revoke or vary the primate licence. 

3.9 An application fee may be charged, and a fee can be charged in respect of any 

inspections. The proposed fees in the table estimate the cost recovery of undertaking 

this licensing function and is in line with fees already in place for Horse Riding 

establishments, which is similar in the application/administration process. These fees 

will be reviewed annually when all discretionary licensing fees are reviewed.  

 

Application for the grant of a licence £530 

Application for renewal of a licence £364 

Application for variation of a licence £30 

Inspection Fees (VET) 
Any VET fees that are incurred will be 

recharged to the applicant 

 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Local authorities can charge a fee in respect of any application relating to a primate 

licence and can also charge a fee in respect of any inspection which it must or may 

arrange under the regulations. Licence fees should be calculated on cost recovery and 

will be reviewed annually to ensure they are set at the right level. 

 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Animal Welfare (Primate Licences) (England) Regulations 2024 have been made 

under section 13 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 and place powers and responsibilities 

on the Council in respect of the licensing of those that keep primates in their area. 

 

Page 37



 
 
 
 

 

6. RISK ASSESSMENT 

6.1 The 2024 Regulations allow licensing authorities to set a fee to undertake this licensing 

function. Fees can be challenged by an applicant or licence holder, meaning the impact 

of a successful legal challenge is possible. The proposed fees estimate the cost 

recovery of undertaking this licensing function. 

 

7. EQUALITIES IMPACT  

7.1 These are statutory functions and are applied nationally. 

 

8. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS  

8.1 None. 

 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

9.1 The committee could decide to recommend that no fee is implemented. 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

10.1 None  

(END) 

Page 38



 

 
 
 

 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

COUNCIL – 21 JANUARY 2026 

Subject TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2025/26 

Wards affected N/A 

Accountable member Cllr Patrick Coleman, Cabinet Member for Finance 

Email: patrick.coleman@cotswold.gov.uk  

Accountable officer 

 

David Stanley, Deputy Chief Executive and S151 Officer 

Email: David.stanley@cotswold.gov.uk     

Report authors Sian Hannam, Business Partner – Treasury Management 

Email: sian.hannam@publicagroup.uk     

Michelle Burge, Chief Accountant 

Email: michelle.burge@cotswold.gov.uk  

Summary/Purpose To receive and discuss details of the Council's Treasury 

Management performance for the period 01 April to 30 September 

2025 and Quarter 2 Treasury Management Prudential Indicators  

Annexes Annex A – Arlingclose Economic Background 6 months to 30 

September 2025. 

Recommendation(s) That Council resolves to: 

1. Note the Council’s Treasury Management performance for 

the period 1 April 2025 to 30 September 2025 and the 

Quarter 2 Prudential Indicators. 

2. Approve the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 

2025/26 

Corporate priorities The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy underpins all of the 

Council Priorities and is relevant to the Council’s priority of 

”Delivering Good Services” – through ensuring value for money and 

standards, enhancing financial resilience and making best use of our 

assets.   

Page 39

Agenda Item 9

mailto:patrick.coleman@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:David.stanley@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:sian.hannam@publicagroup.uk
mailto:michelle.burge@cotswold.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

 

Key Decision NO 

Exempt NO  

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

Arlingclose Limited – Council’s treasury advisors 

  

Page 40



 

 
 
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report covers the Treasury Management activity and performance of Cotswold 

District Council for the period 01 April to 30 September 2025. 

1.2 During the period, the Council operated within the treasury limits and prudential 

indicators as set out in the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council on 

the 21 February 2025.  

1.3 The Council’s strategy has been to diversify investments into Pooled Funds to reduce 

risk and increase returns. Pooled Funds have maintained strong returns of dividends 

in the first six months of the year and returned 4.23% against the £12.5m invested in 

this area (further details provided in section 5). The capital values of the Pooled Funds 

and REIT increased by £0.210m from £11.477m to £11.687 during the first six months 

of 2025/26. 

1.4 The Council raised £0.500m through a loan administered by Abundance Investments 

Limited for the purpose of Community Municipal Investments. The Council’s first 

Community Municipal Investment (CMI), named ‘Cotswold Climate Investment’ (CCI) 

closed on the 16 August 2022, fully funded by over 450 investors. The balance 

outstanding on 30 September 2025 is £0.212m.  

1.5 In July 2022, Cotswold District Council entered into an agreement with Cottsway 2, to 

provide a loan of up to £3.753m to support the development of affordable, low carbon 

homes. The balance outstanding as at the 30 September 2025 is £1.930m and will be 

converted to a secured loan over 50 years during the second half of the 2025/26 

financial year.  

1.6 Council has continued to have no requirement to borrow or hold any further external 

debt as at 30 September 2025.  

1.7 The treasury management position as at 30 September 2025 is set out in table 1 below 

together with the year-on-year movements.  

 

 

  

Page 41



 

 
 
 

 

 

 

1.8 Table 1: Treasury Management Summary 

  

31/03/2025 2025/26 30/09/2025 30/09/2025 

Balance Movement Balance Rate 

£m £m £m % 

Short-term borrowing  0.260 (0.048) 0.212 2.20 

Short-term borrowing 0.260 (0.048) 0.212 2.20 

Long-term investments 11.477 0.210 11.687 4.23 

Short-term investments 2.669 7.361 10.030 4.12 

Cash and cash equivalents 8.247 1.066 9.313 4.23 

Total investments 22.393 8.637 31.030 4.16 

Net investments 22.133 8.685 30.818   

 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The purpose of the treasury management operation is to ensure that cash flow is 

adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies are 

invested in counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk 

approach, pursuing optimum performance while ensuring that security of the 

investment is considered ahead of investment return. The Council is required to 

operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised during the year will 

meet cash expenditure.  

2.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 

Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of 

the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure the Council can 

meet its capital spending obligations. The management of longer-term cash may 

involve the arrangement of long and/or short-term loans (external borrowing) or may 

use longer term cash flow surpluses in lieu of external borrowing (internal borrowing). 

2.3 The Council continued to engage the services of Arlingclose for independent treasury 

advice during the six months to 30 September 2025. Arlingclose provide specialist 

treasury support to 25% of UK local authorities. They provide a range of treasury 

management services including technical advice on investment management and 

Page 42



 

 
 
 

 

long-term capital financing. They advise on investment trends, developments, and 

opportunities consistent with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 

2.4 The Council’s treasury management advisors have provided commentary on the 

economic background that prevailed during the first half of 2025/26. This commentary 

is provided within Annex A.  

2.5 In February 2011, the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 

CIPFA Code). The CIPFA Code requires the Council to approve reports on treasury 

management activities at the end of the first half of the financial year and at the end 

of the financial year. 

2.6 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2025/26 was approved at the Council 

meeting on the 24 February 2025. The Council has invested substantial sums of money 

and is therefore exposed to financial risks including changes in capital value of funds, 

the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. The 

successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are central to the Council’s 

treasury management strategy. 

 

3. BORROWING 

3.1 Local authorities can borrow from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) provided they 

can confirm they are not to purchase ‘investment assets primarily for yield’ in the 

current or next two financial years, with confirmation of the purpose of capital 

expenditure from the S151 Officer. Authorities that are purchasing or intending to 

purchase investment assets primarily for yield will not be able to access the PWLB 

except to re-finance existing loans or externalise internal borrowing.  

3.2 Acceptable use of PWLB borrowing includes service delivery, housing, regeneration, 

preventative action, re-financing debt and treasury management.  

3.3 Competitive market alternatives are available for authorities with or without access to 

the PWLB. However, the financial strength of the individual Council and borrowing 

purpose will be scrutinised by commercial lenders.  

3.4 The Council is not planning to purchase any investment assets primarily for yield and 

so is able to fully access the PWLB.  

3.5 The Council’s first Community Municipal Investment (CMI), named ‘Cotswold Climate 

Investment’ (CCI) which targeted a £0.500m fundraise closed on the 16 August 2022, 

Page 43



 

 
 
 

 

fully funded by over 450 investors. As at the 30 September 2025 the Council therefore 

held a £0.212m loan administered through Abundance Investments Limited for the 

purpose of Community Municipal Investments at a rate of 2.2%.  

3.6 The Council has no further borrowing considerations. There are plans to borrow in the 

future to fund the Capital Programme these will be outlined and updated in the 

Council’s Capital Strategy to be approved by full Council in February 2026. 

3.7 In order to determine whether the Council needs to borrow, the underlying need to 

borrow needs to be compared against the Council’s internal borrowing capacity. The 

underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR) which is total capital expenditure to be funded by borrowing less 

any revenue provision made for the Minimum Revenue Provision. 

3.8 Whilst there may be an underlying need to borrow, the Council may not actually 

undertake external borrowing and may instead use its internal cash balances to fund 

the borrowing requirement which is known as “internal borrowing.” 

3.9 For Cotswold District Council, there is a small underlying need to borrow of £0.360m 

and significant internal borrowing capacity as set out in Table 2 below: 

Table 2: Balance Sheet Summary 

  

31/03/2025 31/03/2026 

Actual Forecast 

£m £m 

General Fund CFR 0.360 0.467 

Less: External borrowing (0.260) (0.163) 

Less: Usable reserves (24.991)  (23.961) 

Less: Working capital 2.758 1.500 

Available for investment or 

internal borrowing* 
(22.133) (22.157) 

*A positive figure would indicate a need to externally borrow 

  

Page 44



 

 
 
 

 

4. INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE 

4.1 The Council invested funds representing income received in advance of expenditure 

plus balances and reserves held. During the half year, the Council’s investment 

balances ranged between £20.176m and £44.386m due to timing differences between 

income and expenditure. On 30th September 2025, the Council had total investments 

of £31.030m arising from its revenue and capital income and expenditure. The 

investment position is shown in table 3 below: 

 

Table 3: Treasury Investment Position 

  

31.3.25 Net  30.9.25 30.9.25 

Balance Movement Balance 
Income 

Return 

£m £m £m % 

Bank of England DMADF 2.587 7.443 10.030 3.98 

Money Market Funds/ Call 

Accounts 
8.247 1.051 9.298 4.23 

Real Estate Investment Trust 

(REIT) 
0.698 (0.040) 0.658 3.00 

Cash Plus Fund 1.213 0.026 1.239 N/A 

Pooled Funds (I) 9.648 0.157 9.805 4.23 

Total investments 22.393 8.637 31.030 4.16 

(1) See breakdown at Table 4 and 5 below. 

4.2 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its funds 

prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 

seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when investing 

money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk 

of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment 

income. 

4.3 High levels of cash were maintained throughout the first half of 2025/26, in part due 

to Capital Programme underspend, these balances were diversified over several 

counterparties and Money Market Funds to manage credit and liquidity risk.  

4.4 The investment income budget for 2025/26 is £1.138m, as approved in February 2025.  

As part of Treasury Management monitoring, a review of Investment income 

expectations for the year indicates income could exceed budget by £0.360m by year 

Page 45



 

 
 
 

 

end Income achieved in excess of budget will be transferred to the Treasury 

Management Reserve at year end to mitigate the risk around future borrowing. Higher 

than expected interest rates have fed through to higher short-term deposit and MMF 

interest rates.  

4.5 The six-monthly investment position analysed between investment types and the year 

to 30th September 2025 change in show in table 4 below. 

 

Table 4: Investment Position (Treasury Investments) 

Investment type 

Balance 

Invested 

at 

30/09/25 

(£'000) 

Investment 

Income 

received to 

30/09/2025 

(£'000) 

2025/26Forecast 

(£'000) 

Interest 

Rates at  

30/09/25 

(%) 

Bank of England DMADF        10,000  

               

222  575            3.97  

Money Market Funds         

     Federated Money Market Fund          3,000  

                 

64              132  4.08  

     DGLS Money Market Fund          3,000  

                 

64              132  4.08  

     Insight Liquidity Money Market Fund          3,000  

                 

58              124  4.01  

Lloyds Instant Access             265  

                 

11                21             3.77  

Santander Call Account                1                   -                    1             2.48  

Other Short-term deposits               -    

                 

13                13             3.97  

Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT)         

     Fundamentum Housing REIT             650                    8                30             3.01  

Cash Plus Fund         

     Federated Cash Plus Fund1          1,239                   -                  -     N/A  

Pooled Funds         

     CCLA Property Fund          2,199  

                 

25                95             3.99  

     Schroders Income Maximiser Fund             922  

                 

36                54             8.67  

                                                
1 Investment income is reinvested into the funds’ capital value rather than distributed as dividends.   

Page 46



 

 
 
 

 

     CCLA Cautious Multi Asset Fund             926  

                 

11                30             4.58  

     M&G UK Income Fund          1,943  

                 

54              104           10.71  

    Ninety-One (Investec) Diversified 

Fund          1,848  

                 

38                88             4.58  

     Columbia Threadneedle Bond Fund          1,959  

                 

43                86             4.47  

         30,952  

               

647           1,484             4.93  

 

5. EXTERNALLY MANAGED FUNDS 

5.1 A key aspect of the Council’s current investment strategy is to invest into pooled funds 

in order to increase investment returns. These funds do introduce higher levels of risk 

as the capital value is not protected, and the value of the funds can go up and down. 

The funds can be drawn down at relatively short notice, but consideration would need 

to be given as to whether drawing them down would crystalise a capital loss. The funds 

themselves are invested in different investment classes and therefore risk within the 

pooled fund is diversified. 

5.2 Of the Council’s total externally managed funds of £12.5m, £10.5m are held in 

externally managed strategic pooled cash, bond, equity, multi-asset and property 

funds.  An additional £1m is invested in a Cash Plus fund and £1m in a Housing Real 

Estate Investment Trust (REIT) where short-term security and liquidity are lesser 

considerations, and the objectives instead are regular revenue income and long-term 

price stability. These funds generated a total return of £0.215m (4.92%) during the first 

half of 25/26 and the capital values on these funds increased by £0.210m. Most asset 

classes achieved positive performance over the first half of the 2025/26 financial year, 

although conditions remained volatile and heavily influenced by political and 

macroeconomic developments, more details can be found in Annex A. Members are 

reminded that Pooled Funds are held for the longer-term and the capital value will 

fluctuate over each financial year. 

5.3 Statutory override IFRS 9 (Pooled Investment Funds) This override allows councils 

to disapply part of IFRS 9 so that fair value gains and losses on pooled investment 

funds do not hit the General Fund. Originally due to end 31 March 2025, it has now 

Page 47



 

 
 
 

 

been extended for four more years under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 

Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2025. It will apply until 31 March 

2029, but only for existing pooled fund investments held as of 1 April 2024.  New 

investments after 1 April 2024 must comply fully with IFRS 9 and will impact the 

General Fund.  

5.4 A “Treasury Management” risk reserve was established in 2024/25, with additional 

investment income above the budgeted level being transferred to this reserve. The 

purpose of the reserve is to manage potential higher borrowing costs, mitigate the 

impact of reduced investment income from lower interest rates, and cover any 

potential realised losses from pooled funds either at March 2030 or if they were 

disposed of earlier. 

5.5 The current balance is £0.375m, and further transfers to this reserve are forecast during 

2025/26 given the expectation of better-than-budgeted investment income. 

5.6 The change in the Council’s funds’ capital values and income return over the 6-month 

period is shown in Table 5 (overleaf). 

 

  

Page 48



 

 
 
 

 

 

Table 5: Pooled Funds, Cash Plus and REIT 

FUND NAME 
Initial 

 Investment 

1 April Fund  
Value 

30th Sept 
Value 

Dividends 

in 

2025/26 

(as at 30 

Sept) 

Gain / 

(Loss) for 
 2025/26 

Gain / 

(Loss) to 
 Initial  

Principal 

% Return 

Capital & 

Dividend 

2025/26 

 

 

 

 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ %  

CCLA Property Fund 2,500,000 2,195,084 2,199,998 24,896 4,914 (300,002) 1.19%  

Schroders Income 

Maximiser Fund (E) 
1,000,000 862,383 921,871 35,694 59,488 (78,129) 9.52%  

CCLA Cautious Multi 

Asset Income  

Fund (M) 

1,000,000 932,668 926,276 11,450 (6,392) (73,724) 0.51%  

M&G UK Income 

Fund (E) 
2,000,000 1,847,558 1,942,665 53,995 95,107 (57,335) 7.46%  

Investec Diversified 

Fund (M) 
2,000,000 1,807,700 1,847,707 37,691 40,007 (152,293) 3.88%  

Columbia 

Threadneedle Bond 

Fund (B) 

2,000,000 1,928,956 1,958,794 43,359 29,839 (41,206) 3.66%  

Federated Cash + 

Fund (C)2 
1,000,000 1,212,773 1,239,493 - 26,720 239,493 2.67%  

Fundamentum 

Housing REIT 
1,000,000 690,000 650,000 7,500 (40,000) (350,000) -3.25%  

Total 12,500,000 11,477,121 11,686,804 214,586 209,683 (813,196) 3.39%  

Key: E- Equity, M – Multi asset, B –Bond, C – Cash 

 

5.7 Most asset classes achieved positive performance over the first half of the 2025/26 

financial year, although conditions remained volatile and heavily influenced by political 

and macroeconomic developments. 

5.8 The most notable market shock came early in the period when US President Trump 

announced his ‘Liberation Day’ tariffs on 2 April, triggering sharp falls in global equity 

and bond markets. Sentiment improved once the US administration softened its stance 

and markets recovered relatively swiftly, although uncertainty lingered. 

5.9 As highlighted above, the nature of these funds is that values can fluctuate from one 

year to another. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available 

                                                
2 Investment income is reinvested into the funds’ capital value rather than distributed as dividends.   
 

Page 49



 

 
 
 

 

for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in 

meeting the Council’s investment objectives are monitored and discussed with 

Arlingclose on a regular basis. Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge 

that capital values will move both up and down on months, quarters and even years; 

but with the confidence that over a three to five-year period total returns will exceed 

cash interest rates. 

5.10 Table 6 below shows that as of 30 September 2025, Cotswold District Council (orange 

bar) achieved an average rate on investments of 4.16%, 63rd in a pool of 132 Local 

Authorities where the average was 4.20%. 

 

5.11 Table 6: Cotswold District Council investment returns v Arlingclose clients (132) as at 

30 September 2025. 

 

 

6. COMPLIANCE REPORT 

6.1 The Chief Finance Officer reports that all treasury management activities undertaken 

during the first half of 2025/26 complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the 

Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy.  

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

5.5%

6.0%

6.5% Income Only Return on Total Investments 
(Internal & External Funds)

The rate of return has been calculated as:
External pooled funds: income only return for the past year, i.e. 
excluding capital gains and losses.
Other investments: effective interest rate (EIR) of investments held at 
the quarter end date.

Page 50



 

 
 
 

 

6.2  Compliance with specific investment limits is demonstrated in table 7 below.   

Table 7: Investment 

limits       

Investment Limits Qtr1 

2025/26 30/09/2025 2025/26 2025/26   

Maximum 

(£) 
Actual (£) 

Counterparty 

Limit (£) 

Sector 

Limit  
(£) 

Complied? 

The UK Government 0 10,000,000 Unlimited n/a Yes 

Local authorities & other 

government 
0 0 3,000,000 Unlimited Yes 

Secured Investments* 0 0 3,000,000 Unlimited Yes 

Banks (Secured)* 3,000,000 266,000 3,000,000 Unlimited Yes 

Building Societies 

(Unsecured)* 
0 0 2,000,000 10,000,000 Yes 

Registered providers 

(Unsecured)* 
3,000,000 0 5,000,000 10,000,000 Yes 

Money Market Funds* 9,000,000 9,000,000 3,000,000 Unlimited Yes 

Strategic pooled funds 11,500,000 11,500,000 4,000,000 20,000,000 Yes 

Real Estate Investment 

Trusts 
1,000,000 1,000,000 3,000,000 20,000,000 Yes 

Other Investments* 0 0 £1m-£3m 10,000,000 Yes 

*Investments in these sectors will only be made with entities whole lowest published long-term credit 

rating is no lower than A- 

 

Compliance with the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for external debt is 

demonstrated in table 8 below. 

Debt, Authorised Limit 

and Operational 

Boundary 

Maximum  
Debt Q2 

2025/26 (£) 

Debt as at 
30.09.2025 

(£) 

2025/26 

Authorised 

Limit (£) 

2025/26 
Operational 
Boundary 

(£) 

Complied?  

 

 
Borrowing 10,000,000 211,935 10,000,000 5,000,000 YES  

PFI and Finance Leases 0 0 0 0 YES  

Total debt  10,000,000      211,935    10,000,000    5,000,000     

 

6.3 Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 

significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in 

cash flow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure. 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

 
 
 

 

7. TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

7.1 As required by the 2021 CIPFA Treasury Management Code, the Council monitors and 

measures the following treasury management prudential indicators. 

7.2 Liability Benchmark - This indicator compares the Council’s actual existing borrowing 

against a liability benchmark that has been calculated to show the lowest risk level of 

borrowing. The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the 

Council is likely to be a long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future and so 

shape its strategic focus and decision making. It represents an estimate of the 

cumulative amount of external borrowing the Council must hold to fund its current 

capital and revenue plans while keeping treasury investments at the minimum level of 

£13m required to manage day-to-day cash flow. 

 

Liability benchmark - Q2 31/03/2025 31/03/2026 31/03/2027 31/03/2028 

  Actual (£m) 
Forecast 

(£m) 

Forecast 

(£m) 

Forecast 

(£m) 

Loans CFR                 0.36  
                

0.47  

                

2.97  
               2.57  

Less: Balance sheet resources (22.23)  (22.50) (17.14)  (10.85)  

Net loans requirement (21.87) (22.03)  (14.17) (8.28) 

Plus: Liquidity allowance              13.00  
              

13.00  

              

13.00  
             11.00  

Liability benchmark (8.87)  (9.03)  (1.17)                2.72  

Existing borrowing 0.26  0.16  0.06  - 

* A negative liability benchmark () means the Council can fund its borrowing internally 

using its own balance-sheet resources, rather than needing to borrow externally. 

7.3 Long-term Treasury Management Investments: The purpose of this indicator is to 

control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early 

repayment of its investments. The prudential limits on the long-term treasury 

management limits are: 

 

 

Long Term Q2 
2025/26 (£) 

2026/27  

(£) 

2027/28  

(£) 

No fixed  
date (£) 

Page 52



 

 
 
 

 

Limit on principal invested 

beyond year end 
     13,000,000  

      

13,000,000  

      

13,000,000  
    13,000,000  

Actual principal invested beyond 

year end at 30.09.2025 
£0 N/A N/A     12,500,000  

 

Complied? Yes N/A N/A Yes  

 

7.4 Long-term investments with no fixed maturity date include strategic pooled funds, real 

estate investment trusts and directly held equity but exclude money market funds and 

bank accounts with no fixed maturity date as these are considered short-term. 

7.5 Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk 

by monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio. 

This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and 

taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated 

investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk. 

 

  
2025/26  

Target 

30/09/2025 

Actual 
Complied? 

Portfolio average credit rating A- AA- Y 

 

7.6 Interest Rate Exposure 

This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk. Bank Rate 

fell by 0.50% from 4.50% on 1st April 2024 to 4.00% by 30th September 2025. 

 

Interest rate risk indicator 
2025/26 

Target 

30/09/2025 

Actual 
Complied? 

Upper limit on one-year revenue 

impact of a 1% rise in interest rates 
-£0.18m -£0.15m Y 

Upper limit on one-year revenue 

impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 
£0.18m £0.15m Y 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 Financial implications are outlined in the body of the report.  

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 None 

Page 53



 

 
 
 

 

10. RISK ASSESSMENT 

10.1 Treasury risk is managed by the application of the Council’s Treasury Management 

Strategy. This report discusses the impact of economic risk on the value and returns 

associated with the Council’s investment portfolio together with the risk of low interest 

rates on the Council’s revenue budget. 

11. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

11.1 None. 

12. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

12.1 None. 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

13.1 None. 

 

(END) 

Page 54



 

 
 
 

   

 

ANNEX A - Arlingclose Economic Background 6 months to 30 September 2025. 

 

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

1.1. The first quarter was dominated by the fallout from the US trade tariffs and their 

impact on equity and bond markets. The second quarter, still rife with uncertainty, 

saw equity markets making gains and a divergence in US and UK government bond 

yields, which had been moving relatively closely together. 

1.2. From late June, amid a UK backdrop of economic uncertainty, concerns around the 

government’s fiscal position and speculation around the autumn Budget, yields on 

medium- and longer-term gilts pushed higher, including the 30-year which hit its 

highest level for almost 30 years. 

1.3. UK headline annual consumer price inflation (CPI) increased over the period, rising 

from 2.6% in March to 3.8% in August, still well above the Bank of England’s 2% 

target. Core inflation also rose, from 3.4% to 3.6% over the same period, albeit the 

August reading was down from 3.8% the previous month. Services inflation also fell 

from July to August, to 4.7% from 5.0%. 

1.4. The UK economy expanded by 0.7% in the first quarter of the calendar year and by 

0.3% in the second quarter. In the final version of the Q2 2025 GDP report, annual 

growth was revised upwards to 1.4% y/y. However, monthly figures showed zero 

growth in July, in line with expectations, indicating a sluggish start to Q3. 

1.5. Labour market data continued to soften throughout the period, with the 

unemployment rate rising and earnings growth easing, but probably not to an extent 

that would make the more hawkish MPC members comfortable with further rate cuts. 

In addition, the employment rate rose while the economic inactivity rate and number 

of vacancies fell. 

1.6. The BoE’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) cut Bank Rate from 4.5% to 4.25% in 

May and to 4.0% in August after an unprecedented second round of voting. The final 

5-4 vote was for a 25bps cut, with the minority wanting no change. In September, 

seven MPC members voted to hold rates while two preferred a 25bps cut. The 

Committee’s views still differ on whether the upside risks from inflation expectations 

and wage setting outweigh downside risks from weaker demand and growth. 

1.7. Arlingclose, the Council’s treasury adviser, maintained its central view that Bank Rate 

would be cut further as the BoE focused on weak GDP growth more than higher 

inflation. One more cut is currently expected during 2025/26, taking Bank Rate to 

Page 55



 

 
 
 

   

 

3.75%. The risks to the forecast are balanced in the near-term but weighted to the 

downside further out as weak consumer sentiment and business confidence and 

investment continue to constrain growth. There is also considerable uncertainty 

around the autumn Budget and the impact this will have on the outlook. 

1.8. Against a backdrop of uncertain US trade policy and pressure from President Trump, 

the US Federal Reserve held interest rates steady for most of the period, before 

cutting the Fed Funds Rate to 4.00%-4.25% in September. Fed policymakers also 

published their new economic projections at the same time. These pointed to a 

0.50% lower Fed Funds Rate by the end of 2025 and 0.25% lower in 2026, alongside 

GDP growth of 1.6% in 2025, inflation of 3%, and an unemployment rate of 4.5%. 

1.9. The European Central Bank cut rates in June, reducing its main refinancing rate from 

2.25% to 2.0%, before keeping it on hold through to the end of the period. New ECB 

projections predicted inflation averaging 2.1% in 2025, before falling below target in 

2026, alongside improving GDP growth, for which the risks are deemed more 

balanced and the disinflationary process over. 

1.10. Financial markets: After the sharp declines seen early in the period, sentiment in 

financial markets improved, but risky assets have generally remained volatile. Early in 

the period bond yields fell, but ongoing uncertainty, particularly in the UK, has seen 

medium and longer yields rise with bond investors requiring an increasingly higher 

return against the perceived elevated risk of UK plc. Since the sell-off in April, equity 

markets have gained back the previous declines, with investors continuing to remain 

bullish in the face of ongoing uncertainty. 

1.11. Over the period, the 10-year UK benchmark gilt yield started at 4.65% and ended at 

4.70%. However, these six months saw significant volatility with the 10-year yield 

hitting a low of 4.45% and a high of 4.82%. It was a broadly similar picture for the 20-

year gilt which started at 5.18% and ended at 5.39% with a low and high of 5.10% 

and 5.55% respectively. The Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) averaged 4.19% over 

the six months to 30th September. 

1.12. Credit review: Arlingclose maintained its recommended maximum unsecured 

duration limit on the majority of the banks on its counterparty list at 6 months. The 

other banks remain on 100 days. 

1.13. Financial market volatility is expected to remain a feature, at least in the near term 

and, credit default swap levels will be monitored for signs of ongoing credit stress. As 

Page 56



 

 
 
 

   

 

ever, the institutions and durations on the Council’s counterparty list recommended 

by Arlingclose remain under constant review. 

 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

COUNCIL MOTION FORM 

Motion A: 

Title of Motion: Making the Cotswolds a Dementia Friendly District 

Proposer: Councillor Mark Harris 

Seconder: Councillor Paul Hodgkinson 

That Cotswold District Council commits to championing the development of Dementia 

Friendly towns and communities across the Cotswold District, working in partnership with 

town and parish councils, community organisations, businesses, and relevant public sector 

partners. 

This commitment aligns with the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives relating to 

supporting healthy, inclusive communities, reducing inequality, and enabling residents to 

live well and independently for longer. 

 

Supporting Note (for information) 

Dementia affects a growing number of residents across the Cotswolds, with significant 

impacts on individuals, families, carers, and local communities. Creating Dementia Friendly 

Communities helps ensure that people living with dementia are understood, respected, 

and supported, enabling them to remain active and independent members of society for 

as long as possible. 

Cotswold District Council’s Corporate Plan places strong emphasis on: 

 Health and wellbeing 

 Stronger, more inclusive communities 

 Reducing isolation and inequality 

 Working in partnership to deliver outcomes 

Championing Dementia Friendly Communities directly supports these aims, while 

recognising that leadership at district level can help: 

 coordinate and amplify good practice, 

 support town and parish councils already active in this area, 

 engage businesses, voluntary groups, and public services, and 

 ensure a consistent, joined-up approach across the District. 

The Local Government Association and Alzheimer’s Society both encourage councils to 

play a convening and enabling role, rather than delivering services directly, making this 

initiative well suited to the District Council’s strategic role. 

 

 

 

That Full Council resolves to:  

1. Endorse the principle of promoting Dementia Friendly Communities across the 

District, consistent with nationally recognised good practice. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10



 

2. Request that Cabinet refer this initiative to the appropriate Committee or service 

area to identify how the Council can: 

o provide leadership, 

o coordinate partners, and 

o support town and parish councils wishing to pursue Dementia Friendly 

status. 

3. Ask officers to explore the relevant guidance and support available through the 

Local Government Association and the 

Alzheimer’s Society, including any existing frameworks, toolkits, or case studies. 

4. Request a short report to Council within six months outlining: 

o potential actions the District Council could take within existing resources, 

o opportunities for partnership working, and 

o suggested next steps for supporting communities across the District. 

 

 

Council Meeting Date: 21 January 2025 

 

NOTES:  

1. Motions must be submitted to Democratic.Services@Cotswold.gov.uk not 

later than 7 working days prior to the date of the meeting. 

2. Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility, or 

which affect the Cotswold District. 

3. Council cannot instruct the Leader but can makes requests of the Leader. 

Council motions cannot commit resources or expenditure. Any request for resources 

would need to be referred to Cabinet for consideration 

Page 60

mailto:Democratic.Services@Cotswold.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 New Fee for Primate Licences
	9 Treasury Management Mid-Year Report
	Annex A to CDC Treasury Mid Year Report 2025_26_FINAL_COUNCIL_JAN26

	10 Notice of Motions

